Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2018

Gold's Gym International, Inc., Appellant, v. Clark Chamberlain and Brent Statham Vince Engle, Appellees: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

This appeal seeks attorneys' fees from the Members of a closely-held corporation who unsuccessfully asserted claims on behalf of their company based on rights embodied in a contract that provides for attorneys' fees. Brent Statham and Clark Chamberlain (the "Members") were members of Health Source of St. George, LLC ("HSSG"). The Members filed a lawsuit against Gold's Gym and other defendants seeking to enforce a franchise License Agreement. The parties to the License Agreements were only HSSG and Gold's Gym. The Members brought five (5) causes of action, all of which were intricately and directly related to the claim for breach of the License Agreement: (1) conversion of the franchise rights embodied in the License Agreement between Gold's Gym International, Inc. ("Gold's Gym") and HSSG; (2) tortious interference with the prospective contract rights between HSSG and its clients; (3) civil conspiracy to sell the franchise rights in the Franchise Agreement; (4) negligence arising from failure to fulfill contractual duties under the License Agreements; and (5) breach of the License Agreement.

The negligence and breach of contract claims were dismissed on Gold's Gym's Motion to Dismiss because they were barred by the relevant statutes of limitations. After a three-day bench trial, the trial court found in favor of Gold's Gym on all of the remaining claims. Despite containing a "prevailing party" attorneys' fee provision, the trial court found that Gold's Gym was not entitled to attorneys' fees under the License Agreement because the Members were not parties thereto even though all of the Members' claims directly arose therefrom.

Members should not be allowed to enforce rights under a contract but escape its obligations. Gold's Gym additionally seeks a determination from the Supreme Court of Utah regarding the exception to the derivative action rule regarding closely-held corporations. In particular, Gold's Gym seeks a ruling that members of a closely-held LLC should be held individually liable for attorneys' fees for asserting rights embodied in a contract to which only the corporation is a party and that contains an attorneys' fees provision.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Is the action brought by the Members a derivative action on behalf of HSSG which would require the Members to pay Gold's Gym's attorneys' fees and costs?
- (a) "The interpretation of a statute is a question of law that we review for correctness...." *ASC Utah, Inc. v. Wolf Mountain Resorts, L.C.*, 2010 UT 65, ¶ 11, 245 P.3d 184, 189 (citations omitted).
- (b) For support that this issue was preserved in the trial court, refer to (i) Gold's Gym's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs and Reply Memorandum in Support thereof filed with the trial court on 9 January 2017 and 24 March 2017, respectively, (ii)

Gold's Gym's Motion for Summary Judgment and Reply Memorandum in Support thereof filed on 26 February 2013 and 4 June 2013, respectively, and (iii) the transcripts from the three-day bench trial that occurred on 1-3 November 2016.

- II. Did the trial court err by failing to award Gold's Gym attorneys' fees and costs under the attorneys' fee provision in the License Agreement?
- (a) "Questions of contract interpretation which are confined to the language of the contract itself are questions of law, which we review for correctness." *Mellor v. Wasatch Crest Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2009 UT 5, ¶ 7, 201 P.3d 1004, 1007.
- (b) For support that this issue was preserved in the trial court, refer to (i) Gold's Gym's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs and Reply Memorandum in Support thereof filed with the trial court on 9 January 2017 and 24 March 2017, respectively, (ii) Gold's Gym's Motion for Summary Judgment and Reply Memorandum in Support thereof filed on 26 February 2013 and 4 June 2013, respectively, and (iii) the transcripts from the three-day bench trial that occurred on 1-3 November 2016.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Facts of the Case. On 22 June 1999, Gold's Gym International, Inc. ("Gold's Gym"), a national fitness franchisor, entered into a License Agreement with Health Source of St. George, Inc. ("HSSG") to operate a Gold's Gym located in St. George, Utah. (Exhibit A of Addendum; Record on Appeal ("R."), pp. 632-653). HSSG is a closely-held corporation owned 50% by Brent Statham and Clark Chamberlain (the "Members" of the corporation that brought this lawsuit), with the remaining 50% owned by Vince Engle ("Mr. Engle") through his personal company known as Health Source, Inc. ("HSI"). (R., pp.669-687).

On 10 April 2001, Defendant Engle represented to Gold's Gym that Statham and Chamberlain were no longer involved with HSSG. In reliance on this representation, Gold's Gym entered into a franchise agreement with HSI. Subsequently, on 8 May 2003, Gold's Gym received a Consent to Assignment authorizing the transfer of the Gym, which was signed by Mr. Engle. (R., pp.2423-2432). Later in 2005, the Plaintiffs contacted Gold's Gym after they learned of the transfer. They claimed Gold's Gym had improperly transferred the license interest.

B. The Procedural History. On 11 July 2005, the Members of HSSG filed suit against Mr. Engle, Gold's Gym, and other defendants. Despite HSSG never being named a party to this action, the Members filed suit on behalf of the corporation against Gold's Gym for: (1) breach of the License Agreement; (2) negligence; (3) tortious interference with prospective contract rights; (4) conversion of contractual rights; and (5) conspiracy to convert contractual rights.

On 27 October 2011, Judge Toomey granted Gold's Gym's Motion to Dismiss with respect to the Members' negligence and breach of contract claims. (R., pp.275-280). The court concluded that the negligence and breach of contract claims were new causes of action that "did not relate back to the earlier Complaint as provided by Rule 15(c), and the statute of limitations has run." (*Id.*).

_

¹ The original case was dismissed without prejudice on 19 November 2008 for failure to prosecute. The instant case was filed on 18 November 2009.

² Mr. Engle was also a named Defendant in this action, against whom the court entered a Default Judgment. On 7 February 2017, the trial court entered a Default Judgment against Mr. Engle and his personally-owned companies Fitcorp and HSSG. The amount of the Default Judgment was for \$7,165,032.21 in consequential damages, \$3,762,632.21 in prejudgment interest, \$20,000,000 in punitive damages, and post-judgment interest at the statutory rate of 2.87%. (R., pp.430-431).

During the discovery of this matter, Gold's Gym prevailed on all but one of the discovery-related motions filed either by the Members or Gold's Gym. Subsequently, Gold's Gym filed two motions for summary judgment, both of which were denied. However, after a three-day bench trial, the trial court agreed with Gold's Gym's arguments – the same arguments presented in its motions for summary judgment – and entered a judgment dismissing all claims against Gold's Gym on all of the Members' claims against Gold's Gym.

C. Disposition in the Trial Court.

Motion for Summary Judgment Ruling: Gold's Gym filed a Summary Judgment Motion to dismiss the Members' claims because Gold's Gym argued their claims were derivative on behalf of HSSG. In her ruling, *inter alia*, the Honorable Kate A. Toomey held that Plaintiffs could proceed due to the closely held corporation exception to the derivative action rules. (R., pp.1427-1449).

Bench Trial Results: After the three-day bench trial, the trial court found for Gold's Gym on all claims. (R., pp.3631-3665). On 9 January 2017, Gold's Gym filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs. (R., pp.3817-3869). On 29 March 2017, the Honorable Todd Shaughnessy in the Third Judicial District denied Gold's Gym's respective motion in the form of a minute entry and without conducting any oral arguments on the motion. (R., pp.4340-4341). On 4 April 2017, Gold's Gym, filed this Notice of Cross-Appeal. (R., pp.4344-4346).³

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Page 10 of 40

³ On 21 February 2017, the Members filed a Notice of Appeal but then subsequently withdrew their appeal on 30 October 2017. (R., pp.4038-4039).

The Members of HSSG brought a derivative action on behalf of the closely-held LLC against Gold's Gym. HSSG is a party to the License Agreement; the Members were not in privity of contract with Gold's Gym. The Members have no direct injury. Thus, the Members' claims against Gold's Gym could only be derivative claims. The trial court allowed the claims to proceed despite the fact that the Members had no contractual privity or individual interest – citing the closely-held corporation exception to the derivative action rules that would otherwise bar the Members from asserting such claims. The Members should be required to assume the obligations under the License Agreement where they have asserted rights thereunder, including the obligation to pay attorneys' fees.

ARGUMENTS

A. Gold's Gym is Entitled to An Award of Attorneys' Fees Pursuant to the Broadly-Worded Attorneys' Fee Provision In the License Agreement. The Members did not contest at trial that the License Agreement contains a broadly-worded attorneys' fee provision. In Giles v. Mineral Res. Int'l, Inc., 2014 UT App 259, ¶ 17, 338 P.3d 825, 829-30, the Utah Court of Appeals held that "[certain] attorney fees provisions at issue are not limited to litigation arising from the contract claims." "Rather, they are broadly worded and allow an award of such fees to the "prevailing party" in "any legal action aris[ing] under ... or relating to" the ... agreement." Id. at 830-831 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). "Under this broad contractual language, attorney fee awards are not limited to the specific claims a party prevails upon but instead may be awarded to the party who prevails in an action that arises out of or relates to the agreements." Id. at 831 (emphasis added); see e.g., Energy Claims Ltd. v. Catalyst Inv. Group Ltd., 2014 UT Page 11 of 40

13, ¶¶ 11, 45, 325 P.3d 70 (holding that a breach of fiduciary duty claim fell within the scope of a contract's forum selection clause).

In this case, the relevant section of the License Agreement provides:

4. <u>Costs and Attorneys' Fees</u>: The prevailing party in any dispute relating to or arising out of this Agreement, shall be entitled to recover its costs and expenses including, without limitation, accounting', attorneys', arbitrators', and related fees, costs, and other expenses, in addition to any other relief to which such party may be entitled. (Ex. A to Addendum, § 4, p.16) (emphasis added).

This attorneys' fee provision awards attorneys' fees to the prevailing party for "any dispute" that is "relating to or arising out of" the License Agreement. Therefore, the Court should grant Gold's Gym an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to the broad, mandatory contractual language contained in the License Agreement, and particularly because this was not contested below.

- B. Gold's Gym Is the Prevailing Party On All of the Members' Claims. The Members did *not* contest in the trial court that Gold's Gym was the prevailing party on all claims. "Generally, only the prevailing or successful party is entitled to an award of attorney fees." Olsen v. Lund, 2010 UT App 353, ¶¶ 6-7, 246 P.3d 521, 522–23 (citations omitted). From the very outset of the case, Gold's Gym successfully dismissed with prejudice the Members' claims for: (1) breach of contract; and (2) negligence. Then, Gold's Gym prevailed on each of the Members' three causes of action tried to the bench: (1) intentional interference; (2) conversion; and (3) conspiracy. Gold's Gym provided a successful defense to all of the Members' claims asserted against it.
- C. Gold's Gym Is Entitled to Attorney's Fees and Costs On the Members'

 Breach of Contract Claim. The trial court granted Gold's Gym's Motion to Dismiss the

Members' breach of contract claim. (R., pp.275-280; 27 October 2011 Memorandum Decision and Order, p.5). The breach of contract claim was a new cause of action that "did not relate back to the earlier Complaint as provided by Rule 15(c), and the statute of limitations has run." (*Id.*) The Members' contract claim arose out of and related to the License Agreement because the Members alleged that Gold's Gym breached that Agreement. Gold's Gym was the "prevailing party" on the Members' contract claim.

After analyzing the Members' Complaint, Gold's Gym determined to file a Motion to Dismiss. (R., pp.174-183). Gold's Gym's Motion to Dismiss and the Reply Memorandum in Support thereof consisted of approximately 10 pages. The Members filed a Memorandum in Opposition thereto and a Sur-reply Memorandum that contained roughly 15 pages. Preparation and attendance was required for the respective hearing held before the trial court. In total, Gold's Gym incurred \$13,676.42 in attorneys' fees and costs with respect to the Motion to Dismiss. (R., 3870-3960; Declaration ("Decl.") of Blake T. Ostler, ¶ 21). Therefore, Gold's Gym seeks the above-stated amount as part of its award for reasonable attorneys' fees in prevailing in the Members' contract claim.

- D. The Members' Intentional Interference, Conversion, and Conspiracy Claims "Arise Out Of" and "Relate To" the License Agreement. The Members did not dispute at the trial court that their intentional interference, conversion, and conspiracy claims arose out of and related to the License Agreement.
- 1. Intentional Interference With Contract. The Members based their tortious interference claim in part, on intentional breach of contract. The trial court made the following findings:

Insofar as the Members are asserting that Gold's Gym interfered with the License Agreement, or with a prospective Franchise Agreement, that claim fails because Gold's Gym was (or would have been) a party to those contracts and the Members cannot sue Gold's Gym for interfering with a contract to which it is a party. (R., pp.3631-3665; Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, p.29) (emphasis added).

. . .

Although the Members could potentially rely on their conversion claim as the improper means to support a claim against St. George Fitness (a claim that fails for the reasons identified above), they cannot show improper means by Gold's Gym. At most, Gold's Gym breached a contract with the Members (or the entity they now claim to control). A breach of contract cannot serve as improper means, unless, perhaps, there is proof that it was done intentionally and for the purpose of inflicting economic harm, which the Members have not shown in this case. "A deliberate breach of contract, even where employed to secure economic advantage, is not, by itself, an 'improper means." (Id., pp.30-31) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

A breach of the License Agreement was integral to the "improper means" element of the Members' intentional interference claim. Gold's Gym was forced to defend a breach of contract claim all the way through trial (even though the breach of contract claim was dismissed with prejudice on Gold's Gym's Motion to Dismiss) because an intentional breach of the License Agreement with the purpose to inflict economic harm can serve as a basis for "improper means" to support an intentional interference claim. However, the Members proved no such improper intent to breach the License Agreement. Thus, the tort claim of intentional interference was dismissed with prejudice.

_

⁴ At trial, the Members' counsel argued at length that Gold's Gym's knowing breach of contract constituted improper means for purposes of tortious interference. Mr. Nadesan argued that "[t]he improper means in terms of Gold's [Gym] would be doing it contrary to their contract, contrary to any obligation to make sure they're dealing with an authorized party." (R., pp.5111-5216; Trial Transcript, 3 November 2016, 15:21-24) (emphasis added). The court even specifically asked whether the improper means to support an intentional interference claim was "either conversion or breach of contract?" (Id. at 18:19-25) (emphasis added). The Members' counsel responded, "Correct." (Id.) (emphasis added).

In Giles v. Mineral Res. Int'l, Inc., 2014 UT App 259, ¶ 18, 338 P.3d 825, 830, the Utah Court of Appeals analyzed a similar fee provision in a non-compete agreement, which provided: "If any legal action arises under this agreement or relating thereto, ... [t]he prevailing party shall be entitled to costs and reasonable attorney's fees...." The Giles court determined whether defendants' tort counterclaim, i.e. breach of fiduciary duty, arose out of or related to the non-compete agreement, and if so, to award attorneys' fees to the prevailing party. Giles, 2014 UT App 259, ¶ 19, 338 P.3d at 830. The trial court rejected the argument that the tort claim was unrelated or did not arise out of the contract claim, and awarded attorneys' fees to the prevailing party on the tort claim. *Id*. Affirming on appeal, and because the same facts that supported the contract claim were incorporated for the tort claim, the court concluded that "the Contract Claim and the Fiduciary Duty Claim were filed together as a "legal action aris[ing] under" the agreements "or relating thereto" and that, as the prevailing party in the action, Giles was entitled to an award of attorney fees." Giles, 2014 UT App 259, ¶ 22, 338 P.3d at 831 (emphasis added); see also Dejavue, Inc. v. U.S. Energy Corp., 1999 UT App 355, ¶ 21, 993 P.2d 222, 227 (affirming a trial court's award of attorneys' fees on the basis that the "contract and torts claims were based on related legal theories involving a common core of facts."); Sprouse v. Jager, 806 P.2d 219, 226 (Utah Ct.App.1991) ("Because these complex issues were so intertwined, we find the court acted within its discretion in its award of attorney fees"); Durant v. Independent Sch. Dist. No. 16, 990 F.2d 560, 566 (10th Cir. 1993) (stating because plaintiff's "claims arose out of a common core of facts and involved related legal theories, the district court may ... conclude her prevailing party status on ... [one] claim subsumes her failure to succeed [on the other.]"); Dejavue, Inc.,

1999 UT App 355, ¶ 20, 993 P.2d at 227 ("when a plaintiff brings multiple claims involving a common core of facts and related legal theories, and [the defendant] prevails on at least some of its claims, [the defendant] is entitled to compensation for all attorney fees reasonably incurred in the litigation.").

As in *Giles* to support Members' relied on a breach of contract claim into their intentional interference claim. Therefore, Gold's Gym is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees because Gold's Gym is the prevailing party with respect to the Members' intentional interference claim that arises out of and relates to the License Agreement.

2. Conversion of Contractual Franchise Rights. The Members' conversion claim is inherently "related to" and "arises from" the License Agreement. The Members have asserted that Gold's Gym converted their franchise rights under the License Agreement, and that Gold's Gym converted the property and equipment located at the St. George gym that were allegedly the Members' property pursuant to the License Agreement. In their opposition memorandum to a summary judgment motion filed by Gold's Gym, the Members stated:

Gold's clearly exercised control over the *License Agreement* and subsequently over the *Franchise Agreement*. Engle had to seek the permission of Gold's to enter into a *Franchise Agreement* on behalf of Fitcorp, and Gold's not only granted such permission ... but it also unilaterally and on its own accord terminated the *License Agreement* and replaced it with Fitcorp's *Franchise Agreement*. Gold's also exercised control inconsistent with the Members' rights when it not only consented to the transfer of the *Franchise Agreement* from Fitcorp to Fitness Source, but refused to relinquish its control and return the *license/franchise* rights to the Members when they notified Gold's of their rightful ownership... Gold's further exercised control over the franchise inconsistent with the Members' rights when it terminated Fitness Source, LLC's *Franchise Agreement* ... and, rather than returning the franchise to the Members, awarded the *franchise* rights to St. George Fitness, LLC.... (R., pp.2543-2651; 5 August 2015 Members' Corrected Motion to Strike, or In the

Alternative, Memorandum in Opposition to Gold's Gym's Motion for Summary Judgment, p.31-32) (emphasis added).

The Members' arguments below in effort to establish a conversion claim relate to and arise directly from the License Agreement.⁵ The trial court additionally held:

Also, the *[franchise/license]* rights ceased to exist when the *License Agreement* was changed to a *Franchise Agreement*. Lastly, even if these rights were somehow capable of being converted, their value at the time of the alleged conversion would be something less than the \$8,500 HSSG paid for them when it entered the *License Agreement*. (R., pp.3631-3665; Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, p.27) (emphasis added).

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