2017

Gold's Gym International, Inc., Appellant, v. Clark Chamberlain and Brent Statham, Appellees : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Second, Gold's is estopped from arguing that Chamberlain's conversion, conspiracy, and interference claims arose from or related to the License Agreement. At the inception of the Second Action, Gold's argued that Utah's savings statute did not apply to

Chamberlain's breach of contract claim because the breach of contract claim did not "relate back" to Chamberlain's claims in the First Action. In fact, Gold's expressly claimed that the Chamberlains' causes of action in the First Action, which included the conversion, conspiracy, and interference claims, did not arise from and were not related to the License Agreement. Based on Gold's argument, the district court dismissed Chamberlain's breach of contract claim with prejudice. It would therefore be inequitable and unjust for Gold's to now seek attorney fees by claiming the opposite – that the conversion, conspiracy, and interference claims arise from and relate to the License Agreement. As a result, Gold's is estopped from making such an argument.

Finally, Gold's has made numerous arguments regarding the amount and reasonableness of its fees. However, these issues are not before the Court. Because it ruled that Gold's was not entitled to fees, the district court never addressed the amount and reasonableness of Gold's fee request. Therefore, in the unlikely event this Court holds that Gold's is entitled to its fees, these issues should be remanded back to the district court.

ARGUMENT

I. GOLD’S FAILED TO PRESERVE ITS ARGUMENT FOR WHY CHAMBERLAIN WAS SUBJECT TO THE ATTORNEY FEES PROVISION OF THE LICENSE AGREEMENT.

The March 2017 Ruling must be affirmed because Gold’s did not preserve its arguments for why Chamberlain was liable under the License Agreement. “When a party fails to raise and argue an issue in the trial court, it has failed to preserve the issue, and an appellate court will not typically reach that issue absent a valid exception to preservation.” State v. Johnson, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 15. “An issue is preserved for appeal when it has been presented to the district court in such a way that the court has an opportunity to rule on it.” Id. (quotations, ellipses, and citations omitted). “To provide the court with this opportunity, the issue must be specifically raised by the party asserting error, in a timely manner, and must be supported by evidence and relevant legal authority.” Id. (quotations, ellipses, and citations omitted).

A. GOLD’S DID NOT PRESERVE ANY ARGUMENT FOR WHY CHAMBERLAIN WAS LIABLE UNDER THE LICENSE AGREEMENT.

Gold’s failed to preserve any argument for why Chamberlain was liable for attorney fees under the License Agreement. In the Motion for Attorney Fees Gold’s sole basis for seeking fees was the attorney fee provision of the License Agreement. See Motion for Attorney Fees at 2-4 (R. 3818-20). However, Gold’s has conceded in its Appeal Brief that Chamberlain was not a party to the License Agreement. See Appellant Br. at 11 (stating that “HSSF is a party to the License Agreement; [Chamberlain was] not in privity of contract with Gold’s Gym.”) And, significantly, Gold’s initial Motion for Attorney Fees never explained why Chamberlain would be subject to the License Agreement’s attorney fee provision if he was not a party. See Motion for Attorney Fees *generally* (R. 3817-3869). Gold’s did not argue the Chamberlain, a non-party to the License Agreement, was liable for fees under Utah’s reciprocal attorney fee provision or any other legal theory. Id.

Instead, Gold's first argument explaining why liability should be imposed, despite Chamberlain not being a party to the License Agreement, was raised in its Reply in Support of Attorney Fees. See Reply in Support of Attorney Fees at 2-6 (R. 4322-4326). However, because the argument was first raised in Gold's reply, it was not preserved. "Where a party first raises an issue in his reply memorandum, it is not properly before the trial court unless the party has received leave of the court to raise a new issue." Winegar v. Springville City, 2014 UT App 9, ¶ 21, 319 P.3d 1 (quotations omitted). Here, Gold's did not seek leave of the district court to raise this new argument and the district court did not address it in its March 2017 Ruling. See March 2017 Ruling (R. 4340-4341). As a result, Gold's failed to preserve its arguments and they may not be considered on appeal.

B. THE ARGUMENT IN THE REPLY WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY ANY LEGAL AUTHORITY.

Alternatively, Gold's argument for why Chamberlain was liable under the License Agreement was not preserved because Gold's failed to support it with any legal authority. In its Reply in Support of Attorney Fees, Gold's argued that "Plaintiffs asserted claims directly under the License Agreement and must bear the burden of attorneys' fees because they claimed the benefits of its protections." See Reply in Support of Attorney Fees at 4 (R. 4324). However, Gold's did not cite to any legal authority establishing that a non-party to a contract could be subject to liability under the contract simply by claiming "the benefits of its protections." Instead, the parties in the legal cases cited by Gold's in its reply memorandum were also parties to the contract. Id. at 4 n.9 (citing Richardson v. Rupper, 2014 UT App 11, ¶ 11, 318 P.3d 128; Francisconi v. Hall, 2008 UT App 166; Prudential Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Hartford Acc. Indem. Co., 325 P.2d 899, 903 (Utah 1958)). As a result, Gold's also failed to preserve the argument raised in the reply memorandum because it cited no relevant legal authority in support of its position.

C. GOLD’S ARGUMENT ON APPEAL WAS NOT RAISED IN THE REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ATTORNEY FEES.

The argument that Gold’s set forth in the Reply in Support of Attorney Fees is not the same argument that it now makes on appeal. In its Reply in Support of Attorney Fees, Gold’s argued that “Plaintiffs asserted claims directly under the License Agreement and must bear the burden of attorneys’ fees because they claimed the benefits of its protections” and Plaintiffs were equitably estopped from arguing that they were not bound by the attorney fee provision. See Reply in Support of Attorney Fees at 4-5 (R. 4324-25). However, on appeal, Gold’s argues, for the first time, that Chamberlain is liable under the License Agreement because his claims were derivative.¹¹ See Appellant Br. at 35-38. As a result, Gold’s argument on appeal was not preserved in the district court.

D. GOLD’S HAS NOT CHALLENGED THE DISTRICT COURT’S PRIOR RULINGS THAT CHAMBERLAIN’S CLAIMS WERE NOT DERIVATIVE.

Gold’s argument on appeal that Chamberlain’s claims are derivative is barred by Gold’s failure to challenge the district court’s prior rulings on that issue. Rulings of the district court that are not challenged on appeal will not be disturbed by the appellate court. See Allen v. Friel, 2008 UT 56, ¶ 7, 194 P. 3d 903 (holding that “[i]f an appellant does not challenge a final order of the lower court on appeal, that decision will be placed beyond the reach of further review” and “[i]f an appellant fails to allege specific errors of the lower court, the appellate court will not seek out errors in the lower court's decision”); Velasquez v. Harman-Mont & Theda, 2014 UT App 6, ¶ 12, 318 P.3d 1188 (affirming district court’s

¹¹ In its Appeal Brief, Gold’s argues at length about the “closely-held corporation exception” to the procedural requirements for filing a derivative action adopted by this Court in Aurora, 970 P.2d at 1280-8. See Appeal Br. at 31-35. However, as Gold’s concedes in its briefing, “the holding in Aurora is narrow, subsequently distinguished, **and inapplicable to the case at hand.**” Id. at 33 (emphasis added). This is because Gold’s argues that Chamberlain’s claims should be considered derivative “regardless of whether they satisfy the Aurora closely-held exception or whether the Court desires to now depart from the Aurora decision.” Id. at 32.

ruling when it has not been properly challenged on appeal); DeGrazio v. Legal Title Co., 2006 UT App 183 (citing Greenwood v. City of N. Salt Lake, 817 P.2d 816, 818 (Utah 1991), Williamson v. Williamson, 1999 UT App 219, ¶ 8 n.3, 983 P.2d 1103); Tracy v. University of Utah Hosp., 619 P.2d 340, 342 n.4 (Utah Ct. App. 1980) (holding that trial court rulings from which no appeal is taken become law of the case). In this case, the district court ruled that Chamberlain’s claims were not derivative on at least two separate occasions. See September 2013 Memorandum Decision (R 1427-1449); FFCL (R. 3652). And Gold’s has expressly limited its appeal to challenging the district court’s ruling on the Motion for Attorney Fees. See Cross-Appeal (R. 4344-46); Appellant Br. at 38. As a result, Gold’s has not challenged the district court’s ruling that Chamberlain’s claims were not derivative and its argument on appeal must necessarily fail.

E. GOLD’S CANNOT REMEDY ITS LACK OF PRESERVATION OR ITS FAILURE TO CHALLENGE THE DISTRICT COURT’S PRIOR RULINGS IN ITS REPLY BRIEF.

Lastly, Gold’s cannot argue preservation or challenge the district court’s other rulings in its reply brief. “When a party fails to raise and argue an issue on appeal, or raises it for the first time in a reply brief, that issue is waived and will typically not be addressed by the appellate court.” State v. Johnson, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 15. See also Coleman v. Stevens, 2000 UT 98, ¶ 9, 17 P.3d 1122 (holding that “we will not consider matters raised for the first time in the reply brief”). As a result, Gold’s cannot raise any new arguments or challenge new rulings in its reply brief. Furthermore, Gold’s bore the burden of establishing, in its opening brief, where each issue was preserved for appeal and, if an issue was not preserved, why it should be considered anyway. UTAH R. APP. P. 24(a)(5)(B) (“Principal briefs must contain ... citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved for review; or a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved”). Gold’s wholly failed to meet this burden. Instead, Gold’s generally referred to its Motion for Attorney Fees, its Reply in Support of Attorney Fees, its 2013 motion and

reply memorandum in support of summary judgment, and the transcript of the three-day bench trial. See Appellant Br. at 7-8. These general references were not supported by citations to the record. See UTAH R. APP. P. 24(e)(1). Similarly, Gold's was required to designate "the judgment or order, or part thereof, appealed from" in its notice of appeal and "summarize the party's position and ... state the specific relief sought on appeal" in its opening brief. See UTAH R. APP. P. 3(d), 24(a)(10). But in its Notice of Cross-Appeal and Appeal Brief, Gold's only claimed to be appealing the district court's March 2017 Ruling. Therefore, because Gold's failed to establish that its issues on appeal were preserved (or excepted from the preservation requirement), limited its appeal to the March 2017 Ruling, and only argued one (unpreserved) basis for liability in its opening brief, it is barred from making new arguments, claiming an exception to preservation, or extending its appeal to additional rulings in its reply.

II. GOLD'S IS ESTOPPED FROM ARGUING THAT CHAMBERLAIN'S CONVERSION, INTERFERENCE, AND CONSPIRACY CLAIMS AROSE FROM OR WERE RELATED TO THE LICENSE AGREEMENT.

Gold's is estopped from claiming that Chamberlain's conversion, interference, and conspiracy claims arouse from or were related to the License Agreement because, earlier in the proceedings in the district court, Gold's successfully argued that Chamberlain's breach of contract claim did not arise from and was not related to the same transaction or occurrence as the conversion, interference, and conspiracy claims. "[A] person may not, to the prejudice of another person deny any position taken in a prior judicial proceeding between the same persons or their privies involving the same subject-matter, if such prior position was successfully maintained." Tracy Loan & Trust Co. v. Openshaw Inv. Co., 132 P.2d 388, 390 (1942). See also Occidental/Nebraska Fed. Sav. v. Mehr, 791 P.2d 217, 220 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (holding that "[g]enerally in legal proceedings a party with knowledge of all the facts will not be allowed to take a position, pursue that position to fruition, and later, with no substantial change in circumstances, return to attack the validity

of the prior position or the outcome flowing from it” (citing 28 AM. JUR. 2D *Estoppel and Waiver* §§ 68-70 (1966)).

Here, Gold’s successfully moved for dismissal of Chamberlain’s breach of contract and negligence causes of action by arguing that they did not arise or relate to Chamberlain’s conspiracy, conversion, and interference claims, which had been asserted in the First Action. In its Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss, Gold’s expressly argued that Chamberlain’s “contract and negligence claims do not arise out of the conduct, transactions, or occurrences set forth or attempted to be set forth in the pleadings” in the First Action. (R. 220). “There is no way that Gold’s Gym could divine from the prior asserted claims ... that these Plaintiffs, who are not parties to the License Agreement, would assert a breach of contract claim.” *Id.* (R. 218). Similarly, Gold’s argued that the “negligence claim also appears to arise out of the License Agreement, or breach thereof ... [t]here is no way that Gold’s Gym could have known that it would be subject to a negligence claim based upon the claims asserted in the” First Action. *Id.* (R. 219). Gold’s concluded that “[t]o the extent the claims **arise out of or are related to the License Agreement**, they are barred by the relevant statutes of limitation and the savings clause has no application ... The savings clause extends only to claims which were asserted ... in the prior action.” *Id.* (R. 219) (emphasis added). And, during oral argument, Gold’s “contend[ed] that what they placed in [the complaint in the First Action] is not, does not arise out of the conduct, transaction, or current set forth in the – attempted to be set forth in the original pleading ... [t]he issues arising out of breach of contract of the Franchise Agreement simply aren’t relevant to the types of claims that were asserted.” (R. 4367). In summary, Gold’s argued that Chamberlain’s breach of contract and negligence claims did not relate back to the First Action and were therefore barred by the statute of limitations because the conversion, conspiracy, and interference claims, which were pled in the First Action, did not arise from or relate to the License Agreement. Gold’s argument was successful. The district court held that the breach of contract and negligence claims were

not substantially similar to the conversion, conspiracy, and interference claims because they did not arise from or relate to the License Agreement. See 2011 Memorandum Decision and Order (R. 278). It therefore dismissed those claims with prejudice. Id.

However, in seeking its attorney fees, Gold's argues just the opposite. In its Motion for Attorney Fees, Gold's claimed that the License Agreement's attorney fee provision was applicable because Chamberlain's conversion, conspiracy, and interference claims arose from or related to the License Agreement. See Motion for Attorney Fees (R. 3822-3830). In denying the Motion for Attorney Fees, held that, with the exception of the breach of contract claim, none of Chamberlain's claims arose out of or related to the License Agreement. See March 2017 Ruling (R. 4340-4341). This was consistent with the district court's ruling in 2011.

While this Court has not previously addressed the circumstances presented by Gold's appeal – where a party successfully prevails on a cause of action by asserting one position in the case and then seeks attorney fees by asserting the opposition position – the policy reasons favoring estoppel apply to Gold's conduct here with equal force. It would clearly be inequitable and unjust for Gold's to prevail on Chamberlain's breach of contract claim by arguing that his other claim's did not arise out of or relate to the License Agreement, but then allow Gold's to recover its attorney fees by arguing the exact opposite. As a result, this Court should hold that Gold's is now estopped from arguing that the conversion, conspiracy, and interference claims arose from or are related to the License Agreement as a result of its previous conduct and, on this basis, affirm the district court's March 2017 Ruling.

III. GOLD'S ARGUMENTS REGARDING THE AMOUNT AND REASONABLENESS OF ITS FEES ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT.

This Court should decline to address Gold's arguments regarding the amount and reasonableness of its fees because they were never addressed by the district court.

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